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Preface


With the twenty-first century heralding the centenary commemorations of the First World War, Australian consciousness of this conflict has been revitalised and renewed. Televised coverage of the Anzac Day ceremonies from Gallipoli and Villers-Bretonneux have awoken a new form of nationalism that acknowledges with pride the service and sacrifice of a long-lost generation. A yearning to know more of the history of this great conflict and pay tribute to family members who never returned, has seen a burgeoning number of Australians of all ages choose to make pilgrimages to these foreign battlefields. For many young people, such a journey has become almost a rite of passage.


My first opportunity to walk these historic sites arose from a trip to Turkey. Joining a group of like-minded Australians, we drove from Istanbul to Gallipoli. The coach was strangely silent that day and, as we alighted at our destination, each of us instinctively sought our private space to walk silently among the headstones and collective memorials. Ours was the only group there and, for me, the solitude of the rugged terrain, overshadowed by steep cliffs and rent with deep ravines, only served to highlight its sanctity. It was not difficult to imagine the perils of the landing and the precariousness of the occupation. The shallow beach afforded limited protection to the troops who scrambled ashore and sheltered there a century ago. Over the ensuing months, mountains of supplies, ammunition, facilities such as a dressing station and a water distillation plant were accommodated on that narrow strip of sand. Little wonder that conditions were initially described as chaotic. Almost a century later, I stood in the summer heat, listening to the cicadas and the gentle rush of low waves over pebbled shores, comforted by the feeling that the men who fell at Gallipoli were cocooned in recognisable Australian sounds amplified in the emptiness of the cove.


Years later, in 2010, my husband and I ventured to the Western Front. The horrors of trench warfare and the stories of the former combatants who had suffered so much were now attracting the level of attention in Australia formerly accorded only to Gallipoli. Again it was summer as we drove through plains as flat as billiard tables, awash with verdant fields of wheat, corn and rape. Amid the colour, at almost every turn of the road, were tucked little pockets of immaculate war cemeteries, their white headstones standing as silent sentinels under a brilliant blue sky. One of the largest cemeteries we visited was at Villers-Bretonneux, where the Australians fought a desperate battle for the town, just one action in the bitter struggle to turn the tide against the Germans.


The cemetery is situated on a slight rise topped by a tower that affords a wonderful panorama over the flat, cropped fields. A moving object can be seen for miles and it is immediately obvious why this slight elevation represented a vital strategic objective. I was thankful that we were almost alone as we wandered up and down the rows of glistening headstones, reading and reflecting on the anguish of the grieving families of these brave young men, my eyes welling with tears. For me a point of great sadness was the fact that very few families would have had the opportunity to visit their sons’ final resting place. Amid manicured lawns and neatly tilled garden beds all lay serene, yet even the most cursory glance across the flat plains recalled stories of hellish bombardment and carnage as the fighting ebbed and flowed across such exposed ground.


All across this part of France and into Belgium the war cemeteries reflect the magnitude of lost lives; at times the scale is overwhelming and such a pilgrimage truly humbling. These are painful journeys, particularly as the realisation grows that each headstone not only represents a life lost, but also the broken dreams of families and the wasted talents of young men and the loss of an immense gift of promise for the nation’s future. As I walked slowly through the fields of meticulously arrayed headstones, lingering over a poignant epitaph and noting the tender years of the youth who rests beneath, it was impossible to remain dry eyed. A century ago, countless families shed oceans of tears for these young men and as pilgrims we carry their torch; certainly something within my being was altered immeasurably as I registered the full extent of the sacrifice. In finally taking my leave of these foreign fields, I knew I would carry their names and deeds in my heart forever.


Many of these personal epitaphs moved me deeply and I felt compelled to painstakingly record the most eloquent or most touching and the details of the soldier they described. On my return to Australia these notes triggered my curiosity. I longed to know more about these soldiers and their families. I was thrilled to discover that this was possible through the National Archives of Australia (NAA). The NAA website is currently in the process of digitising the service records of all who served in both world wars. Most of the files of World War I servicemen are now openly accessible and offer comprehensive details of their lives and, all too often, their deaths. Excited by this discovery, I began to browse, initially examining the records of soldiers who were my kin: my father and my uncles. This only served to whet my appetite and before long I became engrossed in accessing and reading the files of the men whose names I had recorded in those foreign fields. Fascinated, I trawled through thousands of records of men whose names had perhaps long been lost to human memory. My reading was stimulated and sustained by the fact that these files were not merely dry records of dates and places, but windows into the lives of young men who had left their homes for distant shores. Each file offered a unique story, covering every aspect of the human experience from birth to death, love, lust, courage and cowardice, and the happiness and heartbreak in between. I was astonished at the information now available in the public domain and the more I read, the more enmeshed I became in the treasure trove of personal stories, carefully preserved for almost a century.


Stories of the past are our inheritance. They not only tell us who we are and where we belong, they are also an accumulation of the emotional and physical journeys of our forebears. Such stories are central to every culture as the lives and experiences of our ancestors innately shape us and determine what we value. Time and technology undoubtedly alter the way we live our lives, but the constants of family and community continue to define what makes us human. In reading a random range of records, I witnessed the base and the brave, the grim consequences of war for ordinary Australians, discovered stories harboured in families for generations for fear of shame or the legacy of a grief that could scarcely be articulated by impoverished and barely literate kinsfolk. Some stories are heartbreaking and others close to criminal. Readers may question my judgement in drawing on some of these as they do not always reflect the myth of the bronzed Anzac that we hold so dear. I have recorded them however, in all their misery and merit, hope and despair. I believe that each story reflects human nature and the dehumanising effect of war on all who volunteered to serve a distant empire. Those eager, valiant men were confronted with a horror that no human mind could have envisaged, even in its wildest imaginings.


In the course of reading thousands of files, I marvelled at the detailed records of the more than 421,809 soldiers who enlisted to serve in the First World War. Of these, 331,781 served overseas. I have scanned the forms that were carefully composed and sent to families, informing next of kin of illness and wounds, death or perhaps of a return to Australia. I have read the service cards that document the individual movements of thousands of soldiers. However it is not the bare statements of fact that enrich the files. It is the unsolicited correspondence from grieving mothers, fathers and wives seeking information on their loved ones. Their voices, often scratched in pen and ink, record the anguish of loss and hardship inflicted on those who remained at home. These voices have lain silent for a century. They not only reveal unplumbed depths of emotion, but reflect the views and values of the Australian people and describe the society they inhabited in this distant dominion of the British Empire.


I began to wonder how this material, documenting the lives and movements of thousands of troops, was compiled, collated and housed in an age of pen and ink, clumsy cables and the lengthy sea mail from Europe. Who was responsible for the control and management of this information? How did such an establishment manage to sustain a personal and voluminous correspondence with the public? How was it organised? Who was in charge? What dictated its tone? My reading revealed that these files were compiled by a department known as ‘Base Records’, established soon after the outbreak of war in 1914. The sole person charged with planning, organising and maintaining this department is represented in the signature at the end of every letter despatched: Lieutenant (later Major) J.M. Lean.


Major James Malcolm Lean and his staff were exposed to myriad stories. The files created and maintained over the years of the war are a legacy of both Base Records and the soldiers and families whose lives they so meticulously recorded. Lean and his department addressed a complex and broad range of issues through eloquently crafted letters which are frequently marked by sensitivity and compassion. Although often no answer could be given to the questions asked, each correspondent was guaranteed a courteous and compassionate reply.


While many of the correspondents were semi-literate, I have recorded their letters exactly as they were written. Even those characterised by grammatical and spelling errors and a stumbling lack of coherence remain a powerful testament to the grief and courage of the Australian people. Major James Lean’s files have preserved this wonderful vista into the past. Although his contribution to Australian history has received scant recognition, the efficiency, discretion and sensitivity of the paper trail he created demonstrate not only monumental organisational skills, but a fundamental humanity that transcended the brutality of the Great War.


Carol Rosenhain




CHAPTER ONE:


A ROAD LESS TRAVELLED


Who then was this unheralded servant of the Australian Army and what shaped his role in Australian history? Following the Scottish tradition of naming the first-born son after his father, James Malcolm Lean was the third member of his lineage to carry the same name. Unlike his forebears however, he was born in Waverley, a growing Sydney suburb, on 26 May 1878. His mother, the former Fanny Adams, and his father migrated to Australia from England aboard the Mysore in the early months of 1877. It had been a distressing voyage in the confines of steerage class and tensions were exacerbated by the alleged intemperance of its captain — Captain Moddrell — who rapidly came to be regarded as incapable of commanding his ship. He was also given to moods so violent that several times during the voyage he had to be confined to a straightjacket.


In addition to its human cargo, the Mysore was also carrying a quantity of gunpowder. During bouts of drunkenness, Captain Moddrell routinely threatened to ignite the gunpowder with his revolver. Having reached Australia unscathed, James Lean and fellow passenger Mr E. Magner lodged a formal complaint concerning Moddrell’s behaviour, alleging drunkenness while in command of the vessel and failure to provide passengers food of sufficient quantity or quality. At the end of such a tumultuous voyage, most passengers were keen to put their ordeal behind them. Not James Lean, whose determination that the matter be fully investigated saw him give evidence before the Steam Navigation Board on 7 March 1877.1 Outraged and disgusted, Lean considered it his duty to ensure that such irresponsible behaviour be fully disclosed, examined and the culprit dealt with by the relevant authorities.


James Lean, then aged 41, and his wife Fanny, aged 29, quickly established themselves in Sydney. He was a man imbued with a sense of civic duty, evident in his early support for the development of a public school in Camperdown. At a town planning meeting in May 1879, he was appointed to the combined offices of the rather quaint position of Inspector of Nuisances, Collector and Overseer of Public Works.2 This was a highly responsible position and saw Lean appointed custodian of the community’s sanitation apparatus. Given Sydney’s burgeoning population, the disposal of night waste had to be carefully controlled and monitored in the interests of public health and to ensure the security of potable drinking water. No infrastructure for a metropolitan sewerage system existed at the time. The contents of household water closets were collected by the night men and poured into communal cesspits which had to be emptied every six months. The Nuisances Protection Act of 1875 had recently been enacted and listed stringent conditions for waste removal, describing also the heavy fines that failing to adhere to these conditions would attract. James Lean’s position as overseer of community sanitation gave him the power to enter any house or facility, close it and fine the owner if conditions were unsatisfactory. While this was by no means a glamorous appointment, it was essential for the well-being of the growing population and ensured that Lean would become a pivotal member in shaping the Country Towns and Sewerage Act of 1880. He was formally listed as a draughtsman in the Sydney directories over the next 20 years and, on his death certificate, dated 6 February 1906, he was described as the Custodian of Plans for the Water and Sewerage Board. Clearly he was a man of some vision who was committed to the welfare of his newly adopted city.


While serving as Sydney’s senior sanitation controller, Lean became a personal friend and colleague of William Holmes, who was the Secretary of the New South Wales (NSW) Metropolitan Board of Water Supply and Sewerage. Having been raised in Victoria Barracks in Paddington, Holmes was imbued with a strong military culture, a formative influence that saw him eventually forsake his promising civil career for the profession of arms. By 1903 he had been appointed Commanding Officer (CO) of the 1st NSW Infantry Regiment, the regiment he first joined in 1878 as a 10-year-old cadet bugler. With service in South Africa, New Guinea, Gallipoli and France, William Holmes rose through every military rank to become Major General Sir William Holmes, CMG, DSO, VD before he was killed in action in France in 1917.


His friendship with William Holmes kindled James Lean’s interest in military service and may have inspired him to encourage his own son to join the cadet corps sometime in 1888. Having left school, the young James Malcolm Lean was first employed as an indent clerk, arranging the purchase and sale of goods. But his interest in military life was ultimately to capture his heart. As a cadet he participated in the Cavalry Tournament in 1890 at Casino where he acquitted himself with some distinction. In 1894 the young Lean became a part-time member of the 3rd NSW Scottish Rifles where he gained proficiency in musketry. His growing expertise and leadership skills saw him rise to the rank of sergeant during the six years he served with the regiment.


Both his father and William Holmes proved worthy role models for the young James. Their public positions demanded a strong sense of duty, responsibility and meticulous attention to detail. James Lean senior was also a member of the We Hope to Prosper Lodge, the St Leonards Samaritan Lodge and the Independent Order of Good Templars which met in Pitt Street at the Temperance Hall. His father and grandfather had earned their living as professional draughtsmen and the young James may have been encouraged to develop the precision and attention to detail that characterised his forebears.


James Lean and his wife Fanny had three other children: William Arthur, born in Goulburn in 1880, Edward Victor, born in 1883, and a daughter, Frances, who was born in 1887. In what must have been a grievous loss for the family, both Edward and Frances died within a year of their birth. These premature deaths were attributed to ‘enteritis’. While infant mortality was not uncommon at the time, the cause of death offered little comfort or explanation to the grieving family.3 At the time of his father’s death in February 1906, only James, aged 27 and William, aged 25, were still living.
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Sergeant James Lean, 3rd NSW Scottish Rifles, c. late 1890s (image courtesy of Margot Schenken).


William, known as ‘Wingy’ after having his forearm amputated, was employed by the Water and Sewage Board as a water meter reader. He left the family home in 1906 to marry Florence Anastasia Scott and, while the couple had two daughters — Florence, born in 1907 and Edith in 1910 — the union was not a happy one. In December 1911 William abandoned his wife and family leaving them virtually  destitute. This left Florence with little option but to initiate court proceedings which were heard in January 1913. The proceedings were acrimonious, with William defending himself and stridently accusing his wife of infidelity. His manner did not endear him to the magistrate and he lost his case, ordered to pay maintenance of 25/- per week and 27/- costs, or in default of the payment of the latter amount, spend 14 days in prison. William reportedly declared: ‘She’ll get no money out of me. I’ll do fourteen days!’4


A few days later, at a coronial inquest, Florence stated that William had approached her after the court appearance and told her, ‘I’m tired of it all. I cannot face the trouble.’5 He handed her a foolscap sheet of paper inscribed with some verses. Florence was convinced that her husband was suicidal at the time. On 30 January 1913 he was found dead in Queen’s Park, Waverley. Beside his body was a razor and an empty bottle of Lysol. A crumpled copy of the verses lay next to the body, their tone reflecting the tragic life and death of a sad and broken man.6 Accordingly, the Coroner reached a verdict of death by suicide. It is reasonable to assume that this sorry saga would have had a profound effect on James Lean, who was now his parents’ sole remaining child.


With the premature deaths of his siblings, it is not surprising that young James Lean was of a rather serious disposition. Growing up in a patriarchal family with firm temperance beliefs, Lean’s developing personality was dominated by the Victorian values of self-restraint and rectitude. Like William Holmes before him, young James was prepared to forsake the security of a civil clerkship for the challenges of military life, formally enlisting in the NSW Defence Force on 4 April 1900. At the time of his enlistment he was 21 years of age, in good physical condition at 5 feet 9 inches tall and weighing 10 stone 8 ounces. At that stage he was living in the family home at 7 Henry Street, Waverley. At the Recruitment Centre he swore an oath of allegiance to the sovereign, Queen Victoria.7


Given his previous military experience, James Lean was immediately gazetted in the Defence Force Bulletin of 1901 as an instructor in musketry with the 3rd Infantry Regiment. He was then appointed Colour Sergeant, 3rd Class Instructional Staff, an appointment  that lasted until 8 September 1902. Apart from the prestige of protecting the regiment’s ensign and its colours in battle, Lean was also responsible for inducting and training new recruits in the basics of military regulations, drill and musketry. On 9 September, in the post-Federation reorganisation of the Commonwealth defence forces, he was transferred to the 3rd Australian Infantry Regiment base at Windsor. Here he became one of the first non-commissioned officers (NCO) to begin training recruits in the newly formed A Company, the Windsor Company. The company was raised on Saturday 19 April 1901 in the local drill hall at Richmond. James Lean was then appointed Staff Colour Sergeant, 2nd Class Instructional Staff, a position he occupied until 28 February 1907.


Between the years 1901 and 1907, The Richmond River and Northern Districts Advertiser regularly documented a range of Colour Sergeant Lean’s military activities. He was in charge of the firing party and was a pall bearer at the public funeral in Sydney for Mr Frederick Daley who had been the 3rd Infantry Regiment’s quartermaster sergeant and bandmaster. He gave lectures to recruits at Richmond and attended presentation evenings and smoke nights to farewell retiring officers where he offered speeches and votes of thanks. He was asked to establish a company at Riverstone and travelled to Lithgow to drill new recruits. He led by example, winning numerous prizes for marksmanship at meetings of the National Rifle Association, and in 1906 carried off a series of prizes at a major meeting at Randwick. Colour Sergeant Lean appeared to revel in military life, immersing himself completely in his military career. However, inevitably, new priorities began to emerge which completely changed the direction of his life.


In 1902 he married Charlotte Ellen Shearston at Woollahra. Charlotte was the second eldest of six daughters and two sons of Edward Shearston and Elizabeth Rigdon of Parramatta. Charlotte’s father was well known in fashionable Double Bay where his brother, the Reverend John Shearston, was the highly respected and much loved superintendent of Royal Naval House. Like James Lean senior, Edward Shearston was a member of the Independent Order of Good Templars. Indeed James and Charlotte may have met through the combined interests and association of their fathers. The Shearstons were regular parishioners of St Mark’s in Double Bay where the young James and Charlotte were married. After their marriage the couple moved to Richmond where they rented a cottage outside the regimental barracks. As a young married couple they attended balls and dances at the barracks before assuming the much quieter life of parents.
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Kathleen, Jesse and Frances Lean, c. 1908 (image courtesy of Margot Schenken).


Over the next five years the female lineage prevailed as James and Charlotte produced three daughters: Frances Ethel, born in 1904 at Richmond; Kathleen Ellen, also born at Richmond in 1906; and Violet Jesse (known as Jesse), who was born at Waverley in 1907. In 1906 the Leans relocated to Sydney and the electoral roll of 1906 reveals that James Lean and his small family were living at 7 Henry Street, Randwick. Family life was characterised by strict discipline and clear expectations. Attendance at church on Sunday and impeccable public attire attested to the respectability of the family. James Lean junior remained the family patriarch in the best Victorian tradition, expecting his children to dutifully walk three paces behind him and his wife. Charlotte was clearly the homemaker and, not surprisingly, the views of the newly emerging women’s and suffragette movements held no currency in the Lean household. However, in spite of his military mien, his daughters adored him and he was a kindly and loving father.8 Over the next 15 years this domestic idyll would become a mere backdrop to his daily affairs, which would gradually be subsumed into a world of men. It was to be a world he could never have imagined.
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Frances, Jesse and Kathleen Lean immaculately dressed for church, c. 1912 (image courtesy of Margot Schenken).


In 1907 James Lean’s service with the 3rd Australian Infantry Regiment was recognised in his posting and promotion. Colour Sergeant Lean clearly possessed considerable aptitude for military life. He was a disciplined and ambitious young man and this, combined with his serious and methodical manner, soon caught the attention of his superiors. As much as he loved training men and his involvement in the cut and thrust of regimental life, the demands of his young and growing family may have influenced his decision to accept an offer of promotion and a posting to headquarters in Sydney as a military staff clerk. This appointment saw him learn a new set of skills as personal assistant to the staff officers at the barracks including involvement in the administrative decisions they routinely faced. In this environment he soon became adept at filing and organising documents and data, preparing agendas for meetings, writing reports, taking minutes and liaising between the staff officers and various units. His appointment saw Lean absorb the numerous protocols and procedures and hone his knowledge of military law, regulations and, by extension, his own military vocabulary.


Lean’s appointment as Military Staff Clerk Level 3 saw his salary drop from £162 per annum to £160, a not insignificant reduction at the time. However he clearly recognised that the position provided scope for promotion and, by 1910, he had been promoted to Military Staff Clerk Level 2, which attracted a salary of £210 per annum, a sizeable increase.9 Nonetheless, he must have felt a wrench at leaving the men and the camaraderie he had enjoyed over the past seven years. The members of his regiment clearly held him in high esteem and, prior to assuming his new post on 1 March 1907, he was warmly farewelled. He was presented with a silver mounted pipe by his final batch of recruits, while his superior officers also expressed their appreciation for his contribution to the regiment as a whole. According to the Windsor and Richmond Gazette of 23 February 1907:


The members of A Windsor Company 3rd Australian Infantry Regiment attended at the Barracks on Saturday night last to say goodbye and make a presentation to Sergeant Major Lean, who has been attached as Instructor of Windsor Company for a number of years.


Major Paine in making the presentation on behalf of the Company, of a silver shaving pot expressed his sincere regret at losing so capable an officer as Sergeant Major Lean, whom he considered one of the best men on the staff. He congratulated him on his promotion to Headquarters in Sydney where he would have good opportunities of promotion.


Lieutenant J.T. Fitzgerald proposed the health of Sergeant Major Lean and all spoke of Sergeant Major Lean as a soldier and good comrade and wished him every success.


Sergeant Major Lean, in responding said he had only done his duty and was glad to find he was appreciated. He gave the members of the Company a parting word of advice – to take more interest in rifle shooting and urged them to pay every attention to their duty in the Company.10


From 3 March 1907 until 30 June 1910, James Lean served as a military staff clerk at Victoria Barracks, Paddington, in the centre of Sydney. The magnificent Regency sandstone building that housed the barracks was the administrative centre for the Commonwealth Military Forces. For Lean, the posting to Victoria Barracks would prove both fortuitous and convenient as the barracks were sited close to his home in Randwick.


In early 1910, preparations were made to appoint Lean to the staff of Canadian-born British Army officer Major General George Macaulay Kirkpatrick, soon to become Inspector-General of Commonwealth Forces in Australia. This would be a prestigious appointment for Lean as Kirkpatrick was a former member of Lord Kitchener’s staff. The Australian government had invited Kitchener to visit Australia in 1909–10 to conduct an inspection tour of the nation’s defence facilities and recommend a reform process for the Commonwealth forces. Kirkpatrick had accompanied him. Among Kitchener’s recommendations was the establishment of a compulsory military training program known as the Universal Training Scheme, the founding of the Royal Military College to train young Australian officers for the permanent forces and the nomination of Kirkpatrick for the position of Inspector-General.  These recommendations were accepted by the Australian government and eventually implemented. Kirkpatrick was offered a four-year contract and duly appointed, despite protests from Australian officers, particularly the Chief of the General Staff, Colonel Hoad, who, as the army’s most senior officer, felt strongly that the country had sufficient experienced officers to fill the position.
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The Lean family home in Canterbury, Victoria (image courtesy of Margot Schenken).


James Lean’s new appointment required him to transfer to Melbourne, the home of Army Headquarters and the office of the Inspector-General. Colonel Wallach, District Commander of the Citizen Forces in NSW, was reluctant to lose a man of Lean’s calibre and experience and requested that the appointment be reconsidered. A number of clerical staff had either resigned or been transferred over the previous year and Colonel Wallach was convinced that the department could ill afford to lose the experienced Lean. Wallach wrote to the Secretary of the Department of Defence on 31 May 1910, expressing his concern at the loss of such an integral member of staff, arguing that ‘… the efficiency of clerical work [will be] seriously prejudiced by this clerk’s absence.’11


Colonel Wallach clearly understood the qualities required of an efficient military staff clerk and recognised such qualities in James Lean. In a further bid to retain his clerk, he made a second appeal to the Department of Defence on 2 June 1910, protesting that: ‘To make an efficient and useful Staff Clerk, requires many years of training, even if the individual concerned is well educated and highly intelligent to begin with.’12 Wallach was evidently determined to make every effort to retain the services of his highly valued clerk.
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The Lean family in the Botanical Gardens, Melbourne, c. 1913 (image courtesy of Margot Schenken).


However further pleas by Colonel Wallach fell on deaf ears and, by 1 July 1910, James Lean and his family had relocated to Melbourne. Here they settled into life in the suburb of Canterbury and Lean began his daily commute to Melbourne’s Victoria Barracks, located in St Kilda Road. Victoria Barracks, an imposing bluestone nineteenth-century building, was home to the Australian government’s Department of Defence. In 1910 Lean’s home in the growing suburb of Canterbury would have nestled in a semi-rural area scattered with Victorian timber cottages. His journey to the city by rail would have taken him through the comfortable and spacious homes of Canterbury and Hawthorn  before he crossed the more urban and industrialised areas of Richmond and Burnley. On his arrival at Flinders Street Railway Station, he may have walked down the broad boulevard of St Kilda Road or taken the brief tram ride to Victoria Barracks. In total, the trip would amount to a fairly pleasant journey of some 40 minutes.


Lean’s new position in Army Headquarters required not only efficiency and excellent organisational skills, but also a sizeable degree of tact and diplomacy. His working relationship with Major General Kirkpatrick undoubtedly honed his administrative skills and further extended his appreciation and understanding of British military procedure and protocols. By 1 July 1913 he had been promoted to Military Staff Clerk Class 1 and commissioned as a temporary lieutenant with an annual salary of £310 per annum.13 Between 1910 and 1914, Major General Kirkpatrick and his staff worked closely in what was a period of unprecedented military expansion. The Defence Act of 1903 had acknowledged that the fledgling nation must be prepared to defend its own shores. The Act’s specific determination that no permanent forces were to be maintained except those manning coastal forts and guns was designed to prevent Britain using Australian troops as piecemeal reinforcements to bolster its own forces protecting the empire. Russia’s defeat by the Japanese in 1905 heightened Australia’s awareness of its own vulnerability. Lord Kitchener’s less than flattering comments on the parlous state of Australia’s defences during his visit to Australia in 1910 reinforced this. The Universal Training Scheme, established on Kitchener’s recommendation, was designed to ensure that Australia’s military forces would ‘have a peacetime strength of 80,000 men and a wartime establishment of 135,000.’14


In working closely with Major General Kirkpatrick, Lean was to witness the development of uniquely Australian administrative structures over the next few years. In a country of such vast size it was logical and practical to organise the nation into six military districts basically defined by state boundaries. Each district was under the control of a commandant who was responsible for the establishment of its own administrative and staff organisations. The concurrent establishment of military industries such as the Commonwealth Harness and Leather Accoutrements Factory and other armaments and uniform factories reflected a heightened military focus and a bid for self-sufficiency. During this vibrant period of change and growth, Lean was privy to discussions with Major General Kirkpatrick and Lord Kitchener. He read reports from London written by Australian Army officers who had attended Imperial military conferences. He studied reviews and reports of audits conducted by British Army officers on Australia’s military development and resources. He was positioned at the forefront of Australia’s emerging defence decisions.


With the outbreak of war on 4 August 1914, James Lean, like many other members of the permanent forces, sought to enlist in the Australian Imperial Force (AIF), an expeditionary force being raised for service in Europe. In February 1916 he submitted a formal application to enlist only to have his application denied. Lean was officially informed that: ‘Permission cannot be given for your enlistment as your services in the Defence Department cannot at present be spared and it is considered that your retention in your present position is in the best interests of the service.’15 Correspondence in Lean’s file suggests that he was bitterly disappointed at his inability to enlist, not only to serve his country but to ‘gain honours and promotion.’16 By way of compensation, he was promoted temporary captain on 17 September 1914 with a salary of £400 per annum.17 On 20 October 1914, as the first troops were enlisting and commencing their training, Lean was tasked with establishing a new unit — the Central Army Records Office (CARO). CARO was to be the repository for all the records pertaining to the new force. Its staff would compile and maintain records of all soldiers who enlisted, monitor their deployment and welfare, hold wills and issue medals, deal with the personal effects of deceased soldiers, issue death certificates and liaise with families, the army and the public. This was an age in which the passage of information was achieved through coded cables and the slow sea mail from England. By the time the war finally ground to an end in 1918, the office would have monitored the service of over 331,000 men in theatres of war ranging from Belgium to Mesopotamia and housed the files of over 420,000 men who had registered for service in the AIF.18 The task was nothing short of monumental. The office, unceremonious and workmanlike, would become known to every Australian soldier’s family by its colloquial name, Base Records.


Base Records was allocated space in the grounds of Victoria Barracks in Melbourne. Army Headquarters had been the nerve centre for all matters military since Federation and the First World War was simply another military activity, albeit on a grander scale. At the time of Australia’s initial commitment of support to Britain, there were no accurate estimates of the duration of the war or the millions of troops its appetite would demand. Likewise, there was little understanding of the potential complexity of a department such as CARO, or the extent of the demands that would confront its staff. The inexperience of the senior officers in Army Headquarters is all too evident in the fact that Base Records began life with a staff of three: the newly promoted Temporary Captain Lean and two clerks. In addition, while Captain Lean’s brief was to prove of sizeable proportions, little thought had been given to the space he would need to house his millions of files and indexes. Initially his department occupied three rooms in a wooden hut on the parade ground — the former School of Instruction hall.19 By December 1915 the office had expanded so rapidly that the wooden hut now housed 140 clerks. With the expansion set to continue, plans were drawn up to construct an additional building in 1916 that would accommodate 300 clerks. The budget for this building was £3000. With continued growth in staff numbers, an addition to the new building was approved in 1917 that saw the facility extended by 25 feet at each end.


Lean was to remain with Base Records throughout the conflict and into the post-war period that followed. In his final report on handing over the department in 1922 it is clear that the responsibility hung heavily on his shoulders. His report described the situation that had confronted him as he worked to establish and then develop an organisational structure to manage the extraordinary and diverse range of activities performed by Base Records as demand increased:


There was no set system in force, and everything had to be improvised when different contingencies arose. Practically nothing was known of the operations of a Records Office,  notwithstanding such institutions had been in existence for many years in the British Army, from which we took our cue in Military matters. Consequently we had to grope in the dark, and learn by experience as we went along from day to day, profiting by our mistakes, which fortunately were not costly, but which could have been obviated altogether had pre war provision been inaugurated and frequently tested to ensure smooth and speedy working.20


[image: image]


View of the general office at Base Records, c. 1919 (AWM DAX2207).


There was no precedent for a department of this type, size or scale. There was no model or infrastructure on which to build. Every element had to be built or established on new and untested foundations. James Lean was forced to devise and implement systems that would not only be accurate and methodical, but whose workings could be comprehensible to and maintained by his rapidly increasing coterie of staff members.


One of the first duties performed by Captain Lean in his new role was to organise the collection and collation of enlistment forms. Recruitment documentation for the raising of an army had  to be prepared and distributed to enlistment centres throughout the country. This was accomplished in a remarkably short time, the army printing and despatching enlistment forms to major cities. The primary document was the ‘Application To Enlist In the Australian Imperial Force’ which was supplied to recruitment centres. It stated the applicant’s name and occupation and required parental consent if the applicant was under 21 years of age.


Most parents chose to submit a simple statement in support of their son’s enlistment. As such it is generally difficult to determine their attitude to their son’s actions at the time. However the application form submitted by Aloysius Banks bears evidence that his father struggled with the decision. Aloysius was an 18-year-old tinsmith who had clearly begged his father’s permission to enlist. Imbued with foreboding and uncertainty, his father granted permission in a letter dated 7 April 1915 which accompanied the completed enlistment form:


My dear son


Your earnest appeal to go away and fight for your country, I have been thinking it over and find that I would only be doing part of my duty in granting your request. I therefore give you my consent to go and do that which will be commanded of you with spirit and a will.


I remain your loving father.


Thomas Banks.21


Having secured the requisite parental permission, Aloysius Banks enlisted in Melbourne on 13 April 1915. The enlistment forms consisted of three pages and required substantial detail. They had to be carefully completed and the selection criteria met, before an applicant could be accepted. Two sets of enlistment records were raised. One would accompany the soldier to the front while the other was lodged at Base Records. Once enlistment was completed, these three pages constituted the nucleus of a soldier’s file.


The first sheet in every file consisted of the soldier’s attestation form. This was the vital link between the soldier, the army and his family. It demanded full name, age, address, previous occupation, details of previous military service, religion and next of kin. On Aloysius Banks’ attestation form he was registered as being born in Hobart, Tasmania. He had been a senior cadet for four years and was a member of the Citizen Forces. As a natural-born citizen and unmarried, he allotted 3/- per week to his sister in the hope that she would care for his father.


The second page was the certificate of the attesting officer, which acknowledged that the applicant fully understood the commitment he was making and had supplied all the required information. An oath of loyalty was recited by the applicant and authorised by the attesting officer.


The third page contained the details of the soldier’s physical identity: age, height, weight, chest measurement, complexion, eye colour, hair colour and, finally, religious denomination. This was followed by a Certificate of Medical Examination in which a registered medical practitioner declared that he had examined the applicant and deemed him free from a long list of diseases and conditions, both physical and psychological, including ‘scrofula, phthisis, syphilis, impaired constitution, defective intelligence, defects of vision, voice or hearing’. He had also to be lacking ‘traces of corporal punishment or evidence of having been marked with letters D or BC’, markings used by the British Army to denote deserters and men of ‘bad character’. The applicant had to be able to ‘see the required distance with either eye, his heart and his lungs … healthy, [have] free use of his joints and limbs and … declare that he is not subject to fits of any description.’ Having met these stringent requirements, the medical officer could ‘consider him fit for active service’, signing and dating the form.


Given the limited health and dental care available 100 years ago, and the hard life that many people led, these were very tough conditions. Initially, some 30% of applicants were rejected on medical grounds. Such figures support the assertion that Australia indeed sent the cream of its youth to ‘fight the Hun’. Aloysius Banks, at 5 feet 9 inches and weighing 10 stone 7 pounds, was a picture of health. He had grey eyes, brown hair and two identifying birthmarks on his left shoulder. He was allotted number 1323 and admitted to the training camp at Broadmeadows as a member of the 24th Battalion on 6 May 1915. After a period of basic training, Private Banks embarked from Melbourne on the Euripides on 10 May 1915.


The records of No. 1323 Private Aloysius Banks documented his arrival at Gallipoli on 30 August 1915 where the 24th Battalion spent time manning the precarious position at Lone Pine. From 18 September until 28 December he was hospitalised with dysentery in Malta, after which he rejoined his unit at Tel-el-Kebir in Egypt, following the evacuation of Australian forces from Gallipoli in December 1915. Given further training in Egypt, four Australian divisions then embarked for Europe and the Western Front, while the 3rd Division went direct to England for further training. On 28 March 1916, the 24th Battalion was shipped to Marseilles and travelled by train to the front, taking part in its first major offensives at Pozieres and Mouquet Farm in July and August 1916. In this latter battle Banks suffered a gunshot wound to the shoulder and was repatriated to England. After discharge from hospital and subsequent leave, he was hospitalised at Perham Downs with mumps for a period of some months. On his discharge in February 1917 he was transferred to the 65th Battalion, joining his new unit on 23 March. On 19 September 1917 the 65th Battalion moved to France, where Aloysius Banks’ period of service would prove all too brief. He was killed in action on 4 October 1917 in the Battle of Broodseinde Ridge. His father’s reluctance to endorse his application to enlist had been justified.


These three documents, the attestation form, certificate of the attesting officer and medical certificate, were simply the starting point for the files that Base Records began to assemble. To these were added pages including the Record of Service which, over the duration of the war, listed the soldier’s deployment to various battlefields, transfers between units, training courses and periods of leave, and the ‘Casualty Forms for Active Service’. These forms were maintained and updated by the soldier’s unit orderly room, the record often signed off by the CO or unit adjutant. Written in fountain pen, which faded with time, and having been transferred between battalions and units over the course of the war, these forms became smudged, tattered and often difficult to read. Nonetheless they document in meticulous detail the soldier’s transfers between different units, his misdemeanours, illness, periods of leave, wounds and, in some cases, death. At the conclusion of the war these files were returned to Base Records in Melbourne. Here they were often copied and typed by the clerical staff for clarity and to preserve them for future reference. From that point on, the constitution of the files varies according to each particular soldier’s experience of war. There may be medical reports of wounding and hospitalisation, a copy of a will, descriptions of meritorious service which had been recorded in the Commonwealth of Australia Gazette, sometimes a death certificate and receipts for medals and mementos.


In anticipation of the inevitable casualties, Captain Lean’s next task was to compose and print a series of official Base Records forms. His experience as a staff clerk had exposed him to a range of the potential circumstances that an administrative department might have to address as a consequence of war. The forms he composed were remarkably succinct and unambiguous and bore the hallmarks of Lean’s erudition and the economy of language that characterised his writing. The preparation of these forms demonstrated considerable foresight as they were ultimately to prove invaluable. They were carefully crafted and sensitively worded and saved enormous man hours over the duration of the war.


Captain Lean’s preparatory initiatives were soon put to the test and were indeed utilised before the first troops landed at Gallipoli in April 1915. Some soldiers had the misfortune to die even before they saw active service. Private Alexander Steele died so soon after enlistment that he had yet to be allocated a number.22 He enlisted in NSW on 8 January 1915 and was initially based at Liverpool Camp. He reported sick on 2 February with a cold and sore throat and was given four days’ sick leave. A further visit to the doctor upgraded the diagnosis to pneumonia and he was admitted to Balmain Hospital. There he lapsed into a coma and died on the night of 7 February 1915. He was just 25. The suddenness of his death prompted reports and details to be exchanged between the Commandant of the 2nd Military District (NSW) and the Secretary for Defence. Both parties were soon to learn that this level of engagement over the death of a single soldier was  unsustainable. However they also learnt that accurate record-keeping was essential for the welfare of the troops and the peace of mind of their families.


A number of men who had graduated from basic training died following embarkation on the troopships that were to carry them to the Middle East. The recruitment and despatch of soldiers to overseas theatres of war was no simple affair. Recruits in poor health who had somehow avoided detection at enlistment had to be identified and removed prior to embarkation. The health and welfare of the large numbers of men in training camps and those preparing to embark on transports was a top priority. Yet there is evidence that the medical examination of recruits could be superficial and cursory. A spot check on the Euripides which had stopped at Albany in November 1915 en route to Egypt, revealed four cases of pneumonia, seven of mumps, one of tuberculosis, one of malaria, one hernia and 12 men suffering from venereal disease (VD).23 It was vital that there was documentation for every man on every ship as a rapid change of circumstances required accurate reporting and follow-up action. The staff at Base Records demonstrated their adaptability and efficiency in addressing myriad unforeseen circumstances. These early casualties served to ‘oil the engine’ of Captain Lean’s department and establish the meticulous processes which Base Records would follow over the duration of the war.


The complexity of the work of Base Records staff in the immediate months following embarkation and the establishment of the Australian camps in Egypt was compounded by the unsuitability of large numbers of recruits. With just eight months between the declaration of war in August 1914 and the landing of the first troops at Gallipoli in April 1915, the largely volunteer army had much to learn. Initially, introduction to army discipline and routines began in training camps around Australia. Here the disparate recruits from a broad range of occupations and backgrounds were forced to come to terms with the army’s requirements and then learn to live by them. This proved difficult for many and some were immediately discharged on the grounds that they ‘would be unlikely to become an efficient soldier’. Some of those rejected for service were too old, unfit, of limited intelligence, or simply unable to adapt to the required level of military discipline.


Those who passed the first hurdle of basic training in Australia were then conditioned for the battlefield, with the emphasis on the requisite development of strength and stamina. Initially, England was considered to offer the best facilities for training the raw force; however the realisation soon dawned that training would be significantly hampered by poor weather. Consequently the desert sands of Egypt became the location of choice for honing the skills of the AIF. There, in the unrelenting heat and amid frequent sandstorms, the troops began a gruelling training regime designed to condition them for the rigours of combat. Regular route marches with full kit, endless drill and weapons training tested the raw recruits who wanted only to see some action.


In spite of the hardships and their longing to engage in battle, the youthful army was imbued with a spirit of adventure. Most had never ventured beyond their home state; indeed some had never seen cities. They were generously paid — the AIF’s six shillings a day represented the highest pay of any allied force. The men referred to themselves as ‘six bob a day tourists’ and were unsurprisingly eager to experience the exotic sights and experiences of the Middle East. Egypt’s Mena Camp occupied a sandy plain 10 miles from Cairo, the AIF’s bell tents spread against the backdrop of the pyramids, the sphinx and other ancient wonders. The AIF had experienced problems with discipline from the outset and this, combined with the ease of leaving the camp and accessing the city of Cairo, meant that the seamier side of the city lay within easy reach. The fledgling force’s senior officers now faced an unexpected challenge in establishing and maintaining discipline within its ranks.


Not only were the ‘fleshpots of Cairo’ an irresistible attraction, the AIF had also enlisted a number of ‘bad characters’ whose ‘sharp’ practices only added to the increasing ill-discipline. ‘Breaking bounds, AWL [absence without leave], drunkenness, insubordination, offences against the local inhabitants, all these and other offences were rife in the AIF in the first two months of 1915.’24 Indeed a cursory glance at the records of the men of the 1st Division in 1915 reveals some very unseemly activities. The vastly different living conditions and lifestyle also made the troops vulnerable to an array of illnesses including scabies, mumps, measles, enteric fever and, of course, VD, which was to prove one of the most common afflictions. VD was to remain a problem throughout the war, with treatment invariably demanding hospitalisation, resulting in the depletion of fighting troops at the front.


The high incidence of VD and its consequent effect on the health of the fighting force saw the AIF commander, Lieutenant General William Birdwood, placed in a difficult position:


At this critical moment in the history of the AIF, Birdwood was compelled to choose a form of punishment as the most extreme penalty for misconduct within the AIF. Eventually he decided that sending a man back to Australia to be discharged from the army would represent this extreme punishment. Senator Pearce, the Minister for Defence, supported Birdwood’s decision and a careful weeding out began immediately. From that time until after the Battle of Pozières in 1916, this simple punishment remained the most dreaded instrument of discipline among Australian soldiers.25


No. 604 Private Thomas Dwyer had enlisted early in the war and would have landed at Gallipoli had a dose of VD not claimed him first.26 Indeed Private Dwyer’s diagnosis saw his service summarily curtailed and he was returned to Australia on the Ballarat on 6 August 1915. Once back in Melbourne he deserted from the Broadmeadows Camp. Also returning on the Ballarat were 150 other VD sufferers who were kept in isolation from the wounded men for the duration of the voyage. The record-keeping and amendments to the files that such cases required added significantly to the burden of the already overtaxed Base Records staff, now coping with the fallout from the Gallipoli landing and the subsequent and costly August offensive.


In the aftermath of the landing, the first casualty lists flooded in, and Captain Lean and his small and inexperienced staff faced the reality of the mounting toll of dead and wounded. Their work increased exponentially. As the cables arrived in Melbourne simply listing the names and numbers of the dead and wounded, immediate action had to be taken. A soldier’s file had to be retrieved, details matched, state commandants informed. Where possible, members of the appropriate clergy would break the devastating news to the next of kin prior to the receipt of the dreaded telegram. Lists of dead and wounded then had to be prepared for publication and dissemination to newspapers throughout the country.


James Lean’s work quickly consumed him. He proved a dedicated officer, devoting all his energies to the department for a period of almost nine years. He worked every day from 9.00 am to 10.30 pm with just the rare Saturday or Sunday afternoon off.27 He invariably took work home and continued his labours well beyond midnight.


From the outset, Captain Lean accepted and understood the nature of Base Records’ fundamental task of record-keeping. After all he had served a rigorous apprenticeship as military staff clerk to Major General Kirkpatrick. Routine was acceptable and Lean’s routine was both controlled and orderly. What he could not have anticipated, however, was the unexpected and extended nature of the demands placed on Base Records and which only increased and developed over the course of the war. He could not have imagined the voluminous correspondence that would almost overwhelm the department. Every day thousands of letters arrived from families of Australian servicemen seeking information. Distraught families who received notification that their relative had been ‘killed in action’, ‘reported missing’ or ‘wounded’ demanded an explanation and sought further details. Base Records was the bastion of hope for families desperate for such information. These unsolicited letters reflected the anguish of waiting for news, the heartbreak of bereft families, and shattered lives changed irrevocably by the mounting toll of war. Some letters were humble and barely literate, written on scraps of paper, others angry and bombastic. Irrespective of paper quality, literacy, or the difficulty of the request, all correspondence was answered promptly and courteously, a glimmer of hope offered where possible.


In the early days of the war, most of the work of Captain Lean and his meagre staff involved informing families of the wounding or death of loved ones. One particular section of Base Records was known as the Enquiry Office and was open to the public. As its work became better known and its reputation spread, the Enquiry Office was flooded with requests for information. By September 1915 the office was receiving an average of over 660 callers a day. No telephone enquiries were accepted. The press quickly seized on the importance of the office and the dire need for its services, also reporting on the compassion and sensitivity that underpinned its work. The Kyneton Guardian of Thursday 16 September 1915 painted a vivid picture of public anguish and personal tragedy witnessed at the Enquiry Office almost daily under the headline:


PATHETIC SCENES AT BARRACKS: A ROOM AT BASE RECORDS


Across the Barrack Square at the Victorian Military Headquarters is a little room sandwiched amid a row of Departmental Offices. Each day it draws within its four walls with the regularity of an automan, a constant stream of stricken, broken humanity. The little room forms part of a great Military Department that has sprung into being since the outbreak of war. During twelve hours of each day, an Officer of the Department is in attendance in the little room, prepared to deal with the enquiries relating to the troops that have left the country on active service. And his task is no sinecure. With the receipt of each casualty list, the work of the Officer is doubled. He is called upon to interview hundreds of sorrow stricken relatives, who, buoyed up with forlorn hope attend the Base Records to see if there is “Just a chance that a mistake has been made.”


The little room witnesses many sad scenes. A mother with a baby in arms was enquiring whether it was possible that her Ted was alive. The poor woman, hoping against hope, suggested that it was a case of mistaken identity. The fact in the first place that the man had not definitely been reported dead had aroused doubts in her mind as to the truth of the second cable. The Officer in Charge, himself an old soldier, treated her with infinite tact and sympathy. Still he could give no hope.


They are mostly women who visit this enquiry room. Occasionally a man is to be seen among the crowd, but usually it is the women, the mothers, the sisters, the sweethearts, that takes upon herself the sorrowful task of making these final enquiries.28


The dissemination of details relating to deaths and wounding through a reliable range of forms became a routine and standard procedure that could be performed by any number of subordinate clerks within Base Records. What challenged Captain Lean was the vast array of complex and diverse circumstances that demanded specific and detailed responses. These occurred throughout the duration of the war and each unique situation demanded immediate and careful attention. No form would suffice and these unprecedented problems were directed specifically to Lean as the officer in command (OIC) for a reply. One typical but complicated situation arose over the affairs of No. 369 Lance Corporal James Rhodes of the 3rd Battalion.29 Rhodes enlisted in the AIF in Sydney on 26 August 1914 under an assumed name. Given the financial irregularities of his past, it would appear that he was quite happy to put some distance between himself and his native land. On enlistment he had declared himself to be a 26-year-old New Zealander, his father nominated as next of kin. However, his death in action at Gallipoli sometime between 7 and 12 August 1915 posed an early challenge to the resources of Base Records. A letter from Mrs H. Grimes of Christchurch, New Zealand, galvanised the machinery of the Base Records department into action. The letter was dated 20 September 1915 and read:


Dear Sir


Some time ago I wrote to you about my brother “Rhodes” who we believe went to the Dardanelles with some part of the Australian Troops. I received a P.C. some 6 weeks ago to say letter received which would receive attention, but so far have received no more word. In this morning’s papers J. Rhodes, Papanui Rd. is given in the list of killed Australians between August 7-12th. Well, we had enquiries made and there is no R. Rhodes on Papanui Rd. We think this must be our brother as the name of Rhodes is assumed. His real name is James Percy Wederell as I explained to you in my letter of July last. If you could let us have any particulars as to age, occupation or any details he gave on enlisting, we would be very grateful.


H. Grimes.


While it appeared possible that Lance Corporal Rhodes had indeed enlisted under an assumed name, a number of steps had to be taken to verify this claim before it could become established fact. Base Records replied to Mrs Grimes on 20 October 1915:


Dear Madam


I am in receipt of your letter dated 20th ult. and beg to inform you the soldier to whom you refer, No.369 Lance Corporal James Rhodes, 3rd Battalion, reports as having been killed in action between the 7th and 12th August, enlisted as a single man in N.S.W. on the 26th August 1914, stating his age at that date to be 26 years and 9 months, occupation, labourer. He was born at Tuttan, and next of kin is shown as father, Robert Rhodes Papanui Road, Christchurch, N.Z. Personal description is tall, with dark complexion, brown eyes and black hair. His religion was Church of England.


The above particulars will no doubt enable you to decide whether the soldier is identical with your brother.


Yours faithfully


J.M. Lean.


Mrs Grimes’ suspicions were immediately confirmed, and she wrote to Base Records on 15 November 1915 verifying Rhodes’ identity:


Dear Sir


I am in receipt of your letter dated 20th Oct. I feel sure that No.369 Lance Corporal James Rhodes is my missing brother. The description is identical in every detail. His height would be about 5ft 10ins, his top set of teeth were false, hair black inclined to be curly, eyebrows dark and heavy. Having several brothers with the New Zealand Forces I know every detail is noted. Could you let me know if the above Rhodes was ill in Cairo about the end of May or early in June. Also what private address he gave the Defence Department in Sydney as it is very important for family reasons to find out if the above is our missing brother.


Yours truly


H. Grimes.


But Base Records had no further information to hand and certainly no record of a Sydney address or of Rhodes having been taken ill in Cairo. This was explained in a further missive to Mrs Grimes. The next mention of Lance Corporal James Rhodes came in a letter from Raymond and Stringer, Barristers and Solicitors, in Christchurch, New Zealand. They drew Captain Lean’s attention to the fact that, not only had the soldier enlisted under an assumed name, but he had left a wife and children destitute. The letter was dated 31 August 1916:


Dear Sir


Our client Mrs Margaret Wederell at present residing in Timaru has requested us to address you concerning her claim to the possessions of her late husband’s effects and to a pension from the Commonwealth Government.


Her husband, Mr James Percy Wederell was in business as an Hotel Keeper at Akaroa in the Canterbury District. He became bankrupt and left New Zealand by the “Maunganui” on the 8th April 1914 for Sydney. He afterwards passed in N.S.W. under the name of “J Rhodes.”


He enlisted with the Australian Forces and was known as 369 Lance Corporal J. Rhodes 3rd Battalion A.I.F.


Enquiries have been made through the Police and it has been ascertained that he was employed previously to enlistment by Mr G.W. Bell, licensee of the Court House Hotel, Dubbo, N.S.W. and Mr Bell had an order to draw an allotment of his pay.


He was killed in the Gallipoli Peninsula on the 6th August 1915. When enlisting he gave the information that he came from Christchurch, New Zealand and that his next of kin were resident in that city, but this is incorrect


Some of his effects were sent to Christchurch recently and were identified by his wife’s family.


The Commissioner of Police in New Zealand has been in communication with the Inspector General of Police, Sydney and we have no doubt whatever that we can successfully establish his identity as he and his family have for a good many years been personally known to Mr Raymond.


He has left a widow and two young children destitute, and dependent meanwhile for their support upon the father of the widow Mr Daniel Mahoney a respected resident of Timaru, but a man by no means well off. We would be obliged if you would send us the requisite papers for the widow to sign and inform us what proof you require as to the establishment of his identity.


Yours truly


Raymond and Stringer.


Lance Corporal Rhodes or Percy James Wederell had clearly left a legacy of failure and misery in New Zealand from which he had sought to escape. However, before any claim to his effects or money owed to him could be actioned, verification of his true identity had to be reliably proven to the OIC Base Records. Lean therefore responded to the solicitors’ letter on 18 September 1916, outlining the necessary protocols to be addressed:


Gentlemen


I have to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of the 31st August, concerning the claim of Mrs Margaret Wederell, to be the wife and next of kin of the late No. 369 Lance Corporal J. Rhodes, 3rd Battalion, and enquiring about deceased’s effects, pension, etc.


It will first be necessary to identify deceased with the James Percy Wederell mentioned, and so far as this branch is concerned, it will suffice if a Statutory Declaration from Mrs Wederell to that effect is supplied, together with duly certified statements by others who may be able to substantiate the claim.


I attach a set of pension claim forms, which Mrs Wederell should complete and submit to the Deputy Commissioner of Pensions, Sydney N.S.W. for consideration under the War Pensions Act. If he accepts her claim, and grants the pension, this branch will be satisfied as to identity and will act accordingly.


Similarly, she should communicate with the Military Paymaster, Victoria Barracks, Paddington, New South Wales, on the question of deceased’s military financial affairs, although I understand in cases of this description, the matter is usually placed in the hands of the Public Trustee for settlement.


Deceased left no military will, consequently it is quite possible the Military Paymaster has settled deceased’s accounts with the allottee of his pay.


Two packages of personal effects were despatched to-Mr Robert Rhodes (father)
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